

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts

INITIATIVE PETITION OF JOHN A. LIPPITT AND OTHERS.

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY.

BOSTON, January 7, 2026.

Timothy Carroll
Clerk of the House of Representatives
State House
Boston, Massachusetts 02133

Sir: — I herewith transmit to you, in accordance with the requirements of Article XLVIII of the Amendments to the Constitution “An Initiative Petition for an Act to Reform and Regulate Legislative Stipends,” signed by ten qualified voters and filed with this department on or before December 3, 2025, together with additional signatures of qualified voters in the number of 96,797, being a sufficient number to comply with the provisions of said Article.

Sincerely,

WILLIAM FRANCIS GALVIN
Secretary of the Commonwealth.

AN INITIATIVE PETITION.

Pursuant to Article XLVIII of the Amendments to the Constitution of the Commonwealth, as amended, the undersigned qualified voters of the Commonwealth, ten in number at least, hereby petition for the enactment into law of the following measure:

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts

**In the One Hundred and Ninety-Fourth General Court
(2025-2026)**

An Act to reform and regulate legislative stipends.

Be it enacted by the People, and by their authority, as follows:

1 SECTION 1. The purpose of this act is to establish legislative stipends that provide
2 reasonable compensation linked to performance, promoting transparent and efficient lawmaking
3 and the people's right to full and effective representation in the general court.

4 SECTION 2. Chapter 3 of the General Laws is hereby amended by striking out section
5 9B, as appearing in the 2022 Official Edition, and inserting in place thereof the following new
6 section:

7 SECTION 9B

8 (a) Definitions

9 “Group 1 legislative leaders” shall mean the president of the senate and the speaker of the
10 house of representatives.

11 “Group 2 legislative leaders” shall mean the chair of the senate committee on ways and
12 means, the chair of the house committee on ways and means, and the floor leader of each of the
13 two leading political parties in the senate and house of representatives.

14 “Group 3 legislative leaders” shall mean the assistant floor leader and the second
15 assistant floor leader of each of the two leading political parties in the senate and house of
16 representatives, the third assistant floor leader of the minority party in the senate and the house
17 of representatives, the vice chair of the senate committee on ways and means, the vice chair of
18 the house committee on ways and means, the ranking minority member of the senate committee
19 on ways and means, and the ranking minority member of the house committee on ways and
20 means.

21 “Group 4 legislative leaders” shall mean the senate chairs and the house chairs of eligible
22 committees.

23 “Eligible committees” shall mean committees established by the joint rules of the senate
24 and house of representatives to which more than 50 bills are referred by the senate and house of
25 representatives before March 1 of the first year of a biennial session of the general court.

26 “Public mark-up session” shall mean a meeting of a legislative committee open to the
27 public, for which notice has been publicly posted not less than 10 days prior to the time of such
28 meeting, at which members of the committee may propose amendments to bills referred to the
29 committee.

30 “First year compliance” shall mean, for each eligible committee, both (1) the committee,
31 by the certification date specified in subsection (c)(1), has held a public hearing and a public

32 mark-up session on each bill referred to it before November 1 of such year; and (2) every report
33 made by the committee has been approved by a vote of a majority of the members eligible to
34 vote at a public meeting at which a quorum of such members was present.

35 “Second year compliance” shall mean, for each eligible committee, both (1) the
36 committee, by the certification date specified in subsection (c)(2), has held a public hearing and a
37 public mark-up session on each bill referred to it before April 15 of such year; and (2) the
38 committee has made a report on each such bill approved by a vote of a majority of the members
39 eligible to vote at a public meeting at which a quorum of such members was present.

40 “Compliance percentage” shall mean, for each of the first year and the second year of a
41 biennial session of the general court, the percentage of eligible committees that have achieved
42 first year or second year compliance.

43 “Base compensation amount” shall mean the compensation amount calculated pursuant to
44 Article CXVIII of the Amendments to the Constitution.

45 (b) Additional compensation

46 Subject to the terms of this section and subject to appropriation, the following additional
47 regular compensation shall be paid to members of the senate and house of representatives:

48 (i) Group 1 legislative leaders shall each receive for each regular annual session
49 additional regular compensation equal to no more than 75% of the base compensation amount,
50 subject to the adjustment in subsection (d)(iii).

51 (ii) Group 2 legislative leaders shall each receive for each regular annual session
52 additional regular compensation equal to no more than 50% of the base compensation amount,
53 subject to the adjustment in subsection (d)(iii).

54 (iii) Group 3 legislative leaders shall each receive for each regular annual session
55 additional regular compensation equal to no more than 33% of the base compensation amount,
56 subject to the adjustment in subsection (d)(iii).

57 (iv) Group 4 legislative leaders shall each receive for each regular annual session
58 additional regular compensation equal to no more than 33% of the base compensation amount,
59 subject to the adjustment in subsection (d)(iv).

60 (v) Senators who are Group 2 or Group 3 legislative leaders and are members of one or
61 more eligible committees shall each receive for each regular annual session further additional
62 regular compensation equal to no more than 20% of the base compensation amount.

63 (vi) Senators who are Group 4 legislative leaders and are members of more than one
64 eligible committee shall each receive for each regular annual session further additional regular
65 compensation equal to no more than 20% of the base compensation amount.

66 (vii) Senators and representatives who are not Group 1, Group 2, Group 3, or Group 4
67 legislative leaders and are members of one or more eligible committees shall each receive for
68 each regular annual session additional regular compensation equal to no more than 20% of the
69 base compensation amount.

70 (viii) Senators who are not Group 1, Group 2, Group 3, or Group 4 legislative leaders and
71 are members of more than four eligible committees shall each receive for each regular annual

72 session further additional regular compensation equal to no more than 20% of the base
73 compensation amount.

74 (ix) No senator shall receive additional regular compensation for service in more than 2
75 positions and no representative shall receive additional regular compensation for service in more
76 than 1 position.

77 (c) Certification by clerks

78 (i) On the third Monday in December of the first year of a biennial session of the general
79 court, the clerk of the senate and the clerk of the house of representatives shall jointly examine
80 the records of each eligible committee. If, as of that date, such committee has met the definition
81 of first year compliance, the clerk of the senate and the clerk of the house of representatives shall
82 so certify jointly.

83 (ii) On the last Friday of May of the second year of a biennial session of the general
84 court, the clerk of the senate and the clerk of the house of representatives shall jointly examine
85 the records of each eligible committee. If, as of that date, such committee has met the definition
86 of second year compliance, the clerk of the senate and the clerk of the house of representatives
87 shall so certify jointly.

88 (iii) On each of the dates specified in subsections (c)(i) and (c)(ii) of this section, the
89 clerk of the senate and the clerk of the house of representatives shall jointly calculate the
90 compliance percentage for each of the first year and the second year of a biennial session of the
91 general court.

92 (d) Payment of additional compensation

(i) Except as otherwise provided in this section, each member of the general court shall receive that member's compensation for each session on a bi-weekly basis. Compensation shall not exceed any amounts a member is entitled to pursuant to Article CXVIII of the Amendments to the Constitution, this section, section 9C or as otherwise established by law.

(ii) Each Group 1, Group 2, Group 3, and Group 4 legislative leader shall be paid 50% of member's additional regular compensation pursuant to subsection (b)(i), (b)(ii), (b)(iii), or of this section on a bi-weekly basis.

(iii) Each Group 1, Group 2, and Group 3 legislative leader shall be paid 50% of that leader's additional regular compensation pursuant to subsection (b)(i), (b)(ii), or (b)(iii) of this section, multiplied by the compliance percentage for the applicable year of a biennial session of the general court, in the last bi-weekly payment in such year.

(iv) If the eligible committee of which a Group 4 legislative leader serves as chair has certified as meeting the definition of first year or second year compliance, such member is paid 50% of their additional regular compensation pursuant to subsection (b)(iv) of this section for the applicable year of a biennial session of the general court in the last bi-weekly payment in such year.

(v) Each member of the general court who serves in a position for which additional compensation is paid pursuant to this section for a period less than an entire biennial term of the general court shall receive such additional regular compensation prorated for the portion of that member's service in that position.

SECTION 3. This act shall take effect on January 6, 2027.

FIRST TEN SIGNERS

<u>NAME</u>	<u>RESIDENCE</u>	<u>CITY OR TOWN</u>
John A. Lippitt	23 Mineral Street	Reading
Jennifer Ann Nassour	12 Mountview Road	Wellesley
Jonathan Hecht	159 Russell Avenue	Watertown
Amy Carnevale	20 Dodge Road	Marblehead
Michael J. Widmer	126 Gilbert Road	Belmont
Danielle Susan Allen	102 Otis Street	Cambridge
Jeanne M. Kempthorne	74 North Street, #602	Pittsfield
Scotia Hille	182 Thorndike	Cambridge
Jordan Berg-Powers	18 Townsend Street, #1	Worcester
Jay R. Kaufman	1 Childs Road	Lexington

CERTIFICATE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL.

September 3, 2025.

Honorable William Francis Galvin
Secretary of the Commonwealth
One Ashburton Place, Room 1705
Boston, Massachusetts 02108

Re: Initiative Petition No. 25-37: Initiative Petition for an Act to Reform and Regulate Legislative Stipends

Dear Secretary Galvin:

In accordance with the provisions of Article 48 of the Amendments to the Massachusetts Constitution, I have reviewed the above-referenced initiative petition, which was submitted to me on or before the first Wednesday of August of this year.

I hereby certify that this measure is in proper form for submission to the people; that the measure is not, either affirmatively or negatively, substantially the same as any measure which has been qualified for submission or submitted to the people at either of the two preceding biennial state elections; and that it contains only subjects that are related or are mutually dependent and which are not excluded from the initiative process pursuant to Article 48, the Initiative, Part 2, Section 2.

In accordance with Article 48, I enclose a fair, concise summary of the measure.

Sincerely,

ANDREA JOY CAMPBELL,
Attorney General.

SUMMARY OF 25-37

This proposed law would change the method for calculating stipends paid to certain state legislators on top of their base salaries.

Under the proposed law, legislators would receive stipends, subject to appropriation, based on their leadership positions and/or committee membership. The Senate President and Speaker of the House (Group 1) would receive a stipend of up to 75% of their base salaries. The floor leaders of the two largest parties in each house of the legislature and the chairs of each house's ways and means committee (Group 2) would receive a stipend of up to 50% of their base salaries. The assistant and second assistant floor leaders of the two largest parties in each house, the third assistant floor leaders of the minority party in each house, and the vice chairs and ranking minority members of each house's ways and means committee (Group 3) and the chairs of eligible committees (Group 4) would receive a stipend of up to 33% of their base salaries. Legislators who are not in Groups 1-4 who are members of an eligible committee would receive a stipend of up to 20% of their base salaries. A committee would be "eligible" under the proposed law if it was established by the joint rules of the House and Senate and had more than 50 bills referred to it before March 1 of the first year of the legislative session.

The proposed law would provide a further 20% stipend to three categories of senators: (1) any senator in Group 2 or Group 3 who is a member of one or more eligible committees, (2) any senator in Group 4 who is a member of more than one eligible committee, or (3) any senator not in Groups 1-4 who is a member of more than four eligible committees.

Under the proposed law, no senator could receive a stipend for more than two positions, and no representative could receive a stipend for more than one position.

This proposed law would also establish various terms and conditions for the payment of legislative compensation. A Group 4 leader would receive 50% of the leader's stipend in biweekly paychecks; the leader would receive the other 50% in the last paycheck of the year if the leader's eligible committee had achieved compliance that year. Under the proposed law, "compliance" would mean that, on or before the first Monday in December (in the first year of the legislative session) or on or before the last Friday in May (in the second year of the session), an eligible committee had (1) held a public hearing and public mark-up session on each bill referred to it before a specified cutoff date and (2) approved all of its reports by a majority vote at a public meeting with a quorum present. A Group 1-3 leader would receive 50% of the leader's stipend in biweekly paychecks; the leader would receive the other 50%, multiplied by the percentage of eligible committees achieving compliance in that year, in the last paycheck of the year. The proposed law would require the House and Senate clerks to jointly certify compliance and to calculate the compliance percentage each legislative year. Except as otherwise provided, legislators would receive their compensation on a biweekly basis.

Legislators who served in a qualifying position for less than the full biennial session would receive prorated stipends.

The proposed law would take effect on January 6, 2027.